
Document:- 
A/CN.4/3011 

Summary record of the 3011th meeting 

Topic: 
<multiple topics> 

 

Extract from the Yearbook of the International Law Commission:- 
2009, vol. I 

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission 
(http://legal.un.org/ilc/) 

Copyright © United Nations 
 



	 3011th meeting—27 May 2009	 91

3011th MEETING

Wednesday, 27 May 2009, at 10.05 a.m.

Chairperson: Mr. Ernest PETRIČ

Present: Mr. Caflisch , Mr. Candioti, Mr. Comissário 
Afonso, Mr.  Dugard, Ms.  Escarameia, Mr.  Fomba, 
Mr.  Gaja, Mr.  Galicki, Mr.  Hassouna, Mr.  Hmoud, 
Ms.  Jacobsson, Mr.  Kolodkin, Mr.  McRae, Mr.  Mel-
escanu, Mr.  Murase, Mr.  Ojo, Mr.  Pellet, Mr.  Perera, 
Mr.  Saboia, Mr.  Valencia-Ospina, Mr.  Vargas Carreño, 
Mr.  Vasciannie, Mr.  Wisnumurti, Sir  Michael Wood, 
Ms. Xue.

Tribute to the memory of Sir Derek Bowett, 
former member of the Commission

1.  The CHAIRPERSON said that he had received the 
sad news that Sir Derek Bowett, a member of the Com-
mission from  1991 to  1996, had passed away several 
days previously. A disciple of Sir  Hersch Lauterpacht, 
Sir Derek had enjoyed an illustrious career in international 
law, both as a scholar and practitioner. His outstanding 
achievements, which were recognized by the international 
academic community, included his unrivalled experience 
in international litigation, his active involvement in solv-
ing boundary disputes and his contribution to the develop-
ment of a regime for the mineral resources of the deep sea 
floor of the world’s oceans.

2.  In the International Law Commission his wisdom 
and experience had been greatly appreciated by all who 
had worked with him, and his contribution to the Com-
mission’s work on international relations had been instru-
mental. His sharp legal mind, enthusiasm for international 
law and courteousness would be remembered by all.

At the invitation of the Chairperson, the members of the 
Commission observed a minute of silence.

3.  Mr. VARGAS CARREÑO said that, as a member of 
the Commission from 1992 to 1996, he could testify to 
Sir Derek’s intellectual and moral qualities. He had been 
a great academic, international civil servant and litigant. 
Of his many writings that had had a major impact on 
international law, those on the subjects of self-defence in 
international law and the International Court of Justice in 
particular reflected his vast practical experience of inter-
national litigation at the highest level.

4.  Sir  Derek was noteworthy for his good judgement 
and his ability to sum up an important debate in a clear 
and concise way, as exemplified by his contribution to the 
debate on the 1996 draft code of crimes against the peace 
and security of mankind145 and on the topics of succes-
sion of States146 and State responsibility.147 Through his 

145 Yearbook … 1996, vol. II (Part Two), p. 17, para. 50.
146 In particular, the draft articles on nationality of natural per-

sons in relation to the succession of States, Yearbook … 1999, vol. II 
(Part Two), p. 20.

147 The text of the draft articles on State responsibility was provi-
sionally adopted by the Commission on first reading, Yearbook … 1996, 

teaching, publications, participation in the Commission 
and other activities, Sir Derek had left a great legacy for 
international law.

5.  Mr.  PELLET said that he had first met Sir  Derek 
in 1988, during the oral pleadings at the ICJ in the case 
concerning Border and Transborder Armed Actions, 
where he, a newcomer, had represented Nicaragua and 
Sir Derek, a respected litigant before the Court, had rep-
resented Honduras. Sir  Derek had not taken umbrage 
at some of the rather impertinent remarks he had made 
during the pleadings, but had in fact encouraged him in 
his career, and they had subsequently worked together 
on many cases. Sir  Derek had always been open and 
straightforward, ready to listen and to give advice without  
imposing it.

6.  As a member of the Commission, Sir Derek had been 
discreet but extremely effective, a man of few words that 
nonetheless often tipped the balance. Many key decisions 
had been made under his chairpersonship of the Working 
Group on the long-term programme of work;148 the review 
of the Commission’s working methods spearheaded by 
him had also proved successful. A great internationalist, a 
great lawyer and a dear friend, he would be sadly missed.

7.  Mr.  FOMBA said that from 1992 to  1996 he had 
been honoured to work on the Commission alongside 
Sir Derek. Above all, he had been an extraordinary law-
yer who had made a colossal contribution to doctrine 
and jurisprudence in international law. He had also pro-
vided valuable input to the work of the Commission in its 
selection of topics, both as Chairperson of the Drafting 
Committee when important topics such as State respon-
sibility were under consideration, and as Chairperson of 
the Working Group on the long-term programme of work. 

8.  Mr. HASSOUNA, recalling Sir Derek as a lecturer at 
the University of Cambridge, said that he had been a mod-
est man, always accessible to students and popular with 
them because of his balanced and practical approach to 
problems. His many publications included Law of Inter-
national Institutions and United Nations Forces: A Legal 
Study of United Nations Practice.149

9.  Sir Derek’s experience in the United  Nations had 
given him a good understanding of the international com-
munity, and as a legal adviser to the United Nations Relief 
and Works Agency for Palestine Refugees in the Near 
East (UNRWA) he had had a firm grasp of issues in the 
Middle East. He had worked with Sir Derek at the time of 
the Taba arbitral decision, when Sir Derek had been the 
main legal adviser to the Government of Egypt, while his 
friend and sometimes foe, Sir Elihu Lauterpacht, had been 
the adviser to the Government of Israel. That case, which 

vol. II (Part Two), p. 58; the text of the draft articles on State respon-
sibility for internationally wrongful acts, adopted by the Commission on 
second reading, is reproduced in Yearbook … 2001, vol. II (Part Two) 
and corrigendum, p. 26, para. 76.

148 Yearbook … 1996, vol. II (Part Two), p. 12, para. 10, p. 97–98, 
paras. 244–248, and annex II, pp. 133 et seq.

149 P. Sands and P. Klein (eds.), Bowett’s Law of International Insti-
tutions, 6th ed., London, Sweet and Maxwell, 2009; United  Nations 
Forces: A Legal Study of United Nations Practice, New York, Frederick 
A. Praeger, 1964.



92	 Summary records of the first part of the sixty-first session

had eventually been won by the Government of Egypt, 
was a good example of how a contentious international 
case could be settled through legal means. However, he 
wished to note that Sir Derek had not only been a promi-
nent member of the Commission and an excellent teacher, 
but had been a wonderful human being as well.

10.  Sir  Michael WOOD said that he had been intro-
duced to international law by Sir Derek at the University 
of Cambridge. Sir  Derek had possessed that combina-
tion of idealism and realism which was so important for 
an academic and practising lawyer, and which had been 
exemplified by his work for UNRWA during very difficult 
times in Beirut.

11.  Mr. DUGARD said that, when he had been a student 
at the University of Cambridge, it had been Sir Derek’s 
writings and, above all, his personality, that had influ-
enced his decision to pursue a career in international law. 
Sir  Derek had been both a realist and idealist who had 
made people aware of the important role played by inter-
national law in modern society.

12.  The CHAIRPERSON said that he would send a 
letter conveying the Commission’s condolences to 
Sir Derek’s family.

Reservations to treaties (continued) (A/CN.4/606 
and  Add.1, sect.  C, A/CN.4/614 and  Add.1–2, A/
CN.4/616, A/CN.4/L.744 and Corr.1–2 and Add.1)

[Agenda item 3]

Fourteenth report of the Special 
Rapporteur (continued)

13.  The CHAIRPERSON invited the Commission 
to resume its consideration of the fourteenth report of 
the Special Rapporteur on reservations to treaties (A/
CN.4/614 and Add.1–2).

14.  Ms.  ESCARAMEIA thanked Mr.  Pellet for his 
fourteenth report and in particular for the section 
(paras. 47–64) containing a summary of recent develop-
ments with regard to reservations and interpretative decla-
rations in various international and regional human rights 
courts and mechanisms. She had two questions regarding 
the information contained in the summary. First, accord-
ing to paragraph  64 of the report, the European Obser-
vatory of Reservations to International Treaties was 
reviewing the validity of reservations to anti-terrorism 
treaties, including some reservations that had been for-
mulated more than  12  months previously. The Special 
Rapporteur concluded that the European Observatory 
considered that objections to reservations could still be 
raised even after 12 months had elapsed, which confirmed 
the need for draft guideline 2.6.15 (Late objections). She 
did not understand the relevance of the reference to the 
draft guideline, since it merely stated that a late objec-
tion did not produce the legal effects of an objection made 
within a period of 12 months. If the European Observa-
tory was suggesting that if States formulated late reserva-
tions, those reservations might produce some legal effect, 
that would contradict draft guideline 2.6.15. She therefore 
requested clarification of that point.

15.  Her second question concerned the recommenda-
tions made by the working group on reservations at the 
sixth inter-committee meeting of the human rights treaty 
bodies.150 In its recommendation No.  5, the working 
group had affirmed the competence of the treaty bodies 
to assess the validity of reservations. It had also endorsed 
the Special Rapporteur’s proposal to the effect that an 
invalid reservation should be considered null and void, 
and had concluded that unless a State’s contrary inten-
tion was incontrovertibly established, it would remain a 
party to the treaty without the benefit of the reservation 
(recommendation No.  7). She expressed surprise at the 
Special Rapporteur’s comment at the end of paragraph 54 
of his report that the conclusion of the working group 
did not reflect his position, and she requested him to pro-
vide some further explanation. Recommendation No.  7 
was based on the presumption that a State would prefer 
to remain party to a treaty even when its reservation was 
considered invalid. In her view that was a logical position, 
and one that was supported by paragraph 18 of the report 
of the working group on reservations.

16.  Concerning draft guideline  2.4.0, she agreed that, 
whenever possible, an interpretative declaration should 
be made in writing, for the reasons given in paragraph 75 
of the fourteenth report. However, the commentary to the 
draft article should reflect the idea that interpretative dec-
larations could be formulated orally, and that even though 
a formal communication procedure might not exist, such 
declarations could still have probative value, as the  ICJ 
had found in its  1950 advisory opinion on the Interna-
tional Status of South-West Africa. Furthermore, she sug-
gested that the word “written” should be deleted from the 
title of the draft guideline.

17.  As far as draft guideline 2.4.3 bis was concerned, she 
believed that reference should be made not only to draft 
guidelines 2.1.5 to 2.1.7 but also to draft guidelines 2.1.8 
(Procedure in case of manifestly invalid reservations) 
and 2.1.9 (Statement of reasons). The Special Rapporteur 
held that there was no need to mention draft guideline 2.1.8, 
since the validity or invalidity or an interpretative declara-
tion was far from clear (para. 77). However, she considered 
that there were at least two cases in which a treaty could 
indicate the invalidity of an interpretative declaration: one 
in which a treaty stated that no interpretation of the text 
was possible and a State chose to interpret it; and one in 
which a treaty contained definitions of certain concepts or 
situations, yet a State interpreted differently. In such cases, 
the procedure for manifestly invalid reservations set out in 
draft guideline 2.1.8 should apply.

18.  She took issue with the views expressed by the 
Special Rapporteur in paragraph 78 of the report: he had 
previously held that it would be useful and desirable to 
supply a statement of reasons for interpretative declara-
tions, yet in the report he contended that such a statement 
was out of the question because it was “not necessary, or 
even possible, to provide explanations of explanations”. 
That about-turn was rather confusing, especially as para-
graph 78 seemed to assume that there was some sort of 
explanation behind every interpretative declaration. In 
reality, States often merely indicated the interpretation 

150 See footnote 139 above.



	 3011th meeting—27 May 2009	 93

they wished to give without providing any reason for it. 
For example, in its interpretative declaration in respect 
of the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of 
the Crime of Genocide, the United States of America 
had merely specified, without further elucidation, that 
it understood “intent” to mean “specific intent” and that 
“acts in the course of armed conflicts committed without 
the specific intent required by article II are not sufficient 
to constitute genocide as defined by this Convention”.151 
She failed to comprehend why the Commission should 
not recommend that States provide an explanation of the 
intent of their declarations. Moreover, she would be grate-
ful if the Special Rapporteur could confirm that many such 
statements, which were often called “understandings”, 
were in fact the same thing as interpretative declarations.

19.  She was unhappy with the drafting of draft guide-
line  2.4.3  bis, which stated that, whenever possible, an 
interpretative declaration should be made in accordance 
with the procedure established in three other draft guide-
lines, since she was uncertain whether an interpreta-
tive declaration should be made by using the procedure 
that was employed for the communication of reserva-
tions. If that was the proper procedure, the draft guide-
line should be recast to read: “Whenever possible, draft 
guidelines 2.1.5, 2.1.6, 2.1.7, 2.1.8 and 2.1.9 should apply 
mutatis mutandis to interpretative declarations.” 

20.  Draft guidelines 2.4.0 and 2.4.3 bis should be sent 
to the Drafting Committee together with the changes that 
had been suggested in the plenary discussion. 

21.  Mr.  GAJA said that when the Special Rapporteur 
had introduced his fourteenth  report he had offered the 
Commission a wonderful menu, but so far he had pro-
vided no more than an appetizer. The current discussion 
should in fact be confined to paragraphs 67 to 79 of the 
report, as they were the only ones currently available in 
all languages of the Commission. A single language, even 
if it was the language of Voltaire, should not be given 
more favourable treatment. 

22.  Simple interpretative declarations bore little simi-
larity to reservations. While that was not a recent discov-
ery, it was significant that the ICJ had confirmed that fact 
in its judgment of 3 February 2009 in the case concerning 
Maritime Delimitation in the Black Sea. 

23.  Draft guidelines 2.4.0 and 2.4.3 bis were quite accept-
able, although their wording could still be improved. They 
had been submitted rather late, given that similar draft 
guidelines on statements approving an interpretative dec-
laration had been sent to the Drafting Committee at the 
sixtieth session in  2008.152 Now the Special Rapporteur 
maintained that not only approvals but also interpretative 
declarations should be made in writing. While it would 
therefore have been more logical to present the draft guide-
lines in the reverse chronological order, the two guidelines 
in question should be sent to the Drafting Committee. 

151 Multilateral Treaties Deposited with the Secretary-General 
(available at http://treaties.un.org/pages/ParticipationStatus.aspx), 
chap. IV.1 .

152 Yearbook … 2008, vol.  II (Part Two), para. 74. For a summary 
of the debate in plenary on draft guidelines 2.9.1 to 2.9.10 and the con-
cluding remarks of the Special Rapporteur, see ibid., paras. 95–122.

24.  Draft guideline 2.4.3 bis contained no reference to 
draft guideline  2.1.8 because, according to the Special 
Rapporteur, it was “far from clear that an interpretative 
declaration can be ‘valid’ or ‘invalid’”. The same conclu-
sion should be drawn in respect of draft guideline 2.9.7 
(Formulation and communication of an approval, opposi-
tion or reclassification), which had already been sent to 
the Drafting Committee.

25.  He understood from the Special Rapporteur’s expla-
nations to the Drafting Committee that validity might be 
at issue when a treaty prohibited any interpretative decla-
ration. Such cases were rare, however. He was personally 
unconvinced that the consequence of prohibiting an inter-
pretative declaration was that it should be deemed invalid. 
If an interpretative declaration was held to have no legal 
effect, he failed to see what purpose could be served by 
raising the question of its validity. 

26.  In any event, it was vital that the Commission should 
adopt a consistent position on the validity of interpreta-
tive declarations in the draft guidelines dealing with the 
communication and approval of such declarations, which 
were already before the Drafting Committee.

27.  Mr.  McRAE, commenting on draft guide-
line 2.4.3 bis, said that his starting point was different from 
that of Ms. Escarameia in that he had misgivings about 
including a reference to draft guideline 2.1.7 in it, partly 
because he considered that it was inappropriate to term 
an interpretative declaration either valid or invalid. Such 
declarations might offer an incorrect or wrong interpreta-
tion, but a depositary had very little scope for determining 
if they were valid or invalid, except in the highly unusual 
case in which interpretative declarations were deliberately 
prohibited. For the same reason, he was against including 
a reference to draft guideline 2.1.8. Moreover, the inclu-
sion of a reference to draft guidelines  2.1.7 and  2.1.8 
raised the difficult question of whether an interpretative 
declaration was in fact a reservation. If mention was made 
of draft guideline 2.1.7, the commentary to draft guide-
line 2.4.3 bis would have to provide a thorough explana-
tion of the reason for doing so.

28.  He was not entirely convinced by the Special Rappor-
teur’s arguments against the inclusion of a draft guideline 
on statements of reasons for interpretative declarations. 
Although two years earlier he himself had questioned the 
need for requiring that reasons should be given in a num-
ber of circumstances, because doing so seemed to impose 
an unnecessary burden on States, he had since been won 
over by the idea of a reservations dialogue, because the 
content of a reservation would be better understood if the 
reasons underpinning it were specified. If one accepted 
the idea of a reservations dialogue, the corollary was that 
it would be helpful to know the reasons for interpretative 
declarations, and that they should therefore be supplied. 
In many cases the explanation for an interpretative dec-
laration might be self-evident, but in others it might not 
be so obvious. For example, a State could add a comment 
to the effect that it was making an interpretative decla-
ration because it thought that the action was consistent 
with the legislative history or travaux préparatoires of 
a treaty. Alternatively, a State might believe that making 
an interpretative declaration was consistent with State 



94	 Summary records of the first part of the sixty-first session

practice. In both cases, the explanation of the reasons for 
the interpretative declaration would contribute to any sub-
sequent reservations dialogue when other States approved 
or opposed the declaration. 

29.  The Special Rapporteur should therefore revisit the 
idea that in some instances it would be useful and appro-
priate to supply a statement of reasons. The provision in 
question could be worded as follows: “An interpretative 
declaration shall, where appropriate, be accompanied by 
reasons.” The Commission could then explain in the com-
mentary why that might not happen in many cases.

30.  Mr.  MELESCANU endorsed the Special Rappor-
teur’s request that the Secretariat study on the effects 
of the succession of States on reservations to treaties 
(A/CN.4/616) be circulated to members even if it was 
unavailable in all languages. 

31.  The judgment of the  ICJ in the case concern-
ing Maritime Delimitation in the Black Sea had dealt 
a serious blow to the idea of closely aligning the draft 
guidelines on interpretative declarations with those on 
reservations. Such an approach had been proposed in the 
knowledge that, in practice, States sometimes preferred 
to make interpretative declarations that were in fact res-
ervations, especially in cases where a treaty prohibited 
the entering of reservations. Draft guideline 2.8.1, which 
read “Unless the treaty otherwise provides, a reservation 
is considered to have been accepted by a State or an inter-
national organization if it shall have raised no objection 
to the reservation within the time period provided for 
in guideline 2.6.13”, suggested that it might take a long 
time before a reservation could be deemed to have been 
accepted, in which case it might be preferable for States 
to make an interpretative declaration.

32.  Mr. Gaja had raised the interesting question of the 
distinction between the validity and effectiveness of an 
interpretative declaration, but a declaration which was 
valid but not effective was worthless. Serious thought 
should therefore be given to deciding how to align the 
guidelines on interpretative declarations to which there 
were no objections with the guidelines on reservations, 
otherwise the regime of interpretative declarations would 
be of little interest to States parties to treaties, save as a 
means of expressing a political position. 

33.  Although he was not dissatisfied by the outcome of 
the case concerning Maritime Delimitation in the Black 
Sea, he was concerned by the way in which the ICJ had 
disregarded the declaration of Romania on the delimita-
tion of maritime spaces, particularly as one of the most 
significant conclusions reached by the working group on 
reservations at the sixth inter-committee meeting of the 
human rights treaty bodies had been that reservations and 
interpretative declarations could contribute to the attain-
ment of the objective of universal ratification of treaties.153 

34.  He supported the proposal made in paragraph 66 of 
the Special Rapporteur’s report to accompany the Guide 
to Practice with two annexes, and he agreed with the pro-
posed content thereof.

153 See footnote 139 above.

35.  The text of draft guideline  2.4.0 posed no major 
problems. An interpretative declaration should be made in 
writing whenever possible, since it was clearly in States’ 
interest to publicize their point of view, even if the legal 
impact of the declaration was debatable. On the other 
hand, he would be reluctant to recommend that States 
should state the reasons for their interpretative declara-
tions, since that was not normally done in practice and 
could greatly complicate the mechanism for making such 
declarations. Given that interpretative declarations were 
in any case of limited effectiveness, it did not seem worth-
while to create a complicated and highly restrictive sys-
tem that would be of little value if the reasoning of the ICJ 
in Maritime Delimitation in the Black Sea was accepted. 

36.  Draft guideline  2.4.3  bis was worded in suitably 
broad terms. He was quite prepared to discuss in the 
Drafting Committee Ms.  Escarameia’s proposal to add 
a reference to certain draft guidelines and Mr. McRae’s 
proposal to omit any reference to draft guidelines 2.1.7 
and  2.1.8. 

37.  Draft guidelines 2.4.0 and 2.4.3 bis could therefore 
be sent to the Drafting Committee, provided that every-
one agreed that the Committee could discuss whether to 
broaden or restrict the reference to other applicable draft 
guidelines. 

38.  Mr.  FOMBA said that the first three sections 
(paras.  2–46) of the fourteenth report provided a use-
ful summary of the Commission’s previous work on the 
topic. He welcomed the Special Rapporteur’s intention 
to discuss the practical implications of the judgment of 
the ICJ of 3 February 2009 in Maritime Delimitation in 
the Black Sea during the debate on the effects of inter-
pretative declarations and reactions to them. The recom-
mendations made by the working group on reservations 
at the sixth inter-committee meeting of the human rights 
treaty bodies were most enlightening. He commended 
the Special Rapporteur for the caution he displayed in 
paragraph  54 of the report. The approach taken by the 
Inter-American Court of Human Rights in identifying 
the criteria for interpreting reservations, which was out-
lined in paragraph 58, was rather original but most useful. 
Moreover, he agreed that the practice of the Council of 
Europe, through CAHDI, in its capacity as the European 
Observatory of Reservations to International Treaties, 
tended to confirm the pertinence of draft guideline 2.6.15. 
He endorsed the Special Rapporteur’s plan for his four-
teenth report, especially his proposal to accompany the 
Guide to Practice with two annexes. 

39.  It was quite acceptable that the Special Rappor-
teur should reiterate the conclusion he had drawn in his 
sixth report154 regarding the procedure for the formula-
tion of interpretative declarations, and that he should 
decide not to reconsider it. He agreed with the Special 
Rapporteur’s recommendations in paragraph 75 and said 
that draft guidelines 2.4.0 and 2.4.3 bis did not pose any 
particular difficulties. It was unnecessary to mention 
draft guideline  2.1.8 in draft guideline  2.4.3  bis for the 
reasons set out in paragraph 77. He concurred with the 

154 Yearbook … 2001, vol.  II (Part  One), document A/CN.4/518 
and Add.1–3.



	 3012th meeting—29 May 2009	 95

Special Rapporteur that it was also unnecessary to state 
the reasons for an interpretative declaration because of 
the explanatory nature of the latter. However, he was in 
favour of supplying reasons for reactions to interpretative 
declarations and consequently thought that draft guide-
line 2.9.6 was of value. 

40.  The two draft guidelines contained in the fourteenth 
report should be referred to the Drafting Committee.

41.  Mr. CAFLISCH said that he agreed with the view 
expressed at the sixth  inter‑committee meeting of the 
human rights treaty bodies by the working group on res-
ervations in its recommendation No. 7, which was repro-
duced in paragraph 53 of the Special Rapporteur’s report, 
although, like the Special Rapporteur, he could do with-
out the word “incontrovertibly”, as something was either 
established or it was not.

42.  Turning to paragraph 69 of the report, he said that 
he fully agreed with the Special Rapporteur that there was 
no need to specify the form that an interpretative declara-
tion should take, or the procedure by which it should be 
communicated, or to indicate the reason that it was made. 
However, he also concurred with the Special Rapporteur 
that interpretative declarations should be made in writing.

43.  In draft guideline  2.4.0 he would prefer the dele-
tion of “whenever possible”, since the use of the word 
“should” was sufficient to convey the idea that there was 
no legal obligation. 

44.  That said, he considered that draft guidelines 2.4.0 
and 2.4.3 bis could be referred to the Drafting Committee. 

The meeting rose at 11.20 a.m.

3012th MEETING

Friday, 29 May 2009, at 10.05 a.m.

Chairperson: Mr. Ernest PETRIČ

Present: Mr.  Caflisch, Mr.  Candioti, Mr.  Comissário 
Afonso, Mr.  Dugard, Ms.  Escarameia, Mr.  Fomba, 
Mr. Galicki, Mr. Hassouna, Mr. Hmoud, Ms. Jacobsson, 
Mr. Kolodkin, Mr. McRae, Mr. Melescanu, Mr. Murase, 
Mr. Nolte, Mr. Ojo, Mr. Pellet, Mr. Perera, Mr. Saboia, 
Mr.  Singh, Mr.  Valencia-Ospina, Mr.  Vargas Carreño, 
Mr.  Vasciannie, Mr.  Vázquez-Bermúdez, Mr.  Wisnu-
murti, Sir Michael Wood, Ms. Xue.

Tribute to the memory of John Alan Beesley, 
former member of the Commission

1.  The CHAIRPERSON said that he had received the 
sad news that John Alan Beesley, a member of the Com-
mission from 1987 to 1991, had passed away. A distin-
guished diplomat and eminent jurist, he had spent a good 

part of his career at the Department of External Affairs 
of Canada. It was unusual, especially in the modern era, 
to be both a diplomat and a jurist specialized in interna-
tional law, but John Alan Beesley had combined both ac-
tivities with great skill, as evidenced by the many awards 
and honours he had received in the course of his career. 
It would be recalled that he had negotiated a number of 
important agreements on behalf of the Government of 
Canada, which had also benefited from his expertise in 
various fields, in particular the law of the sea. 

At the invitation of the Chairperson, the members of 
the Commission observed a minute of silence.

2.  Mr.  PELLET recalled that John Alan Beesley, as 
a high-ranking diplomat and legal counsel of the Gov-
ernment of Canada, had served as head of delegation in 
many international negotiations, notably in the area of 
disarmament. He would be remembered in particular for 
his participation in the work of the third United Nations 
Conference on the Law of the Sea. In the Commission, 
the quality of his contributions to debate, which were 
always rich in specific examples drawn from his own 
experience, had also been outstanding. Particularly 
memorable was a statement he had made during the 
Commission’s work on State responsibility in which he 
had stressed that the Commission risked getting bogged 
down in past case law, whereas its mandate was to codi- 
fy rules for the future, not necessarily in an idealistic 
sense but in keeping with actual developments in the 
modern-day world.155 Pragmatic and prudent but none-
theless forward-looking, John Alan Beesley had also 
been a pioneer in environmental law. 

3.  At a sad time when the field of international law 
was losing some of its most illustrious representatives, 
he would also like to pay tribute to memory of one who, 
although not a member of the Commission, had been the 
conscience of contemporary international law and a close 
friend, namely, Thomas Franck, who had passed away 
just two days earlier. 

4.  Mr. DUGARD said that he would like to join in pay-
ing tribute to the memory of Thomas Franck, who had 
been a distinguished professor of international law at 
New York University and had served as President of the 
American Society of International Law and an arbitrator 
and judge ad hoc of the International Court of Justice. As 
Mr.  Pellet had rightly said, he had been the conscience 
of international law. His writings were characterized by 
independence of thought, wisdom and clarity of language. 
His passing was a great loss to international law. 

5.  Mr. McRAE recalled that John Alan Beesley had con-
sidered international law a key instrument of human pro- 
gress, one that must be adapted to meet new needs. For 
that reason, he had been more interested in progressive 
development of international law than in codification. He 
had followed closely the work of the Commission on the 
law of the non-navigational uses of international water-
courses and on international liability for injurious conse-
quences arising out of acts not prohibited by international 
law and had advocated turning the “soft law” in the 

155 Yearbook … 1990, vol. I, 2173rd meeting, p. 184, para. 63.


